
City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 1 
 

A work session of the Beaufort City Council was held on December 18, 2012 at 5:00 p.m. in the 
Beaufort Municipal Complex, 1901 Boundary Street. In attendance were Mayor Billy Keyserling, 
Council members Donnie Ann Beer, George O’Kelley, Mike Sutton, and Mike McFee, and City 
Manager Scott Dadson. 
 
In accordance with the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, Section 30-4-80(d) as amended, all 
local media were duly notified of the time, date, place, and agenda of this meeting. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
The Mayor called the special meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 
ORDINANCE REZONING A PARCEL OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT 308 CHARLES STREET FROM 
OFFICE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TO NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT  
Councilman Sutton made a motion, second by Councilman McFee, to approve the addition to 
the ordinance on second reading. Mayor Keyserling recused himself from the vote. Councilman 
Sutton gave background information on the matter for the assembled public. The motion 
passed 4-0. 
 
ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING QUIT CLAIM DEED FOR BARNWELL STREET EXTENSION  
Councilwoman Beer made a motion, second by Councilman Sutton, to approve the addition 
to the ordinance on second reading. Mayor Keyserling gave background information on the 
matter for the assembled public. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Councilwoman Beer made a motion to adjourn the special meeting, second by Councilman 
McFee. The motion passed unanimously and the special meeting was adjourned at 5:04 p.m. 
 
The Mayor called the work session to order at 5:04 p.m. 
 
ACCOMMODATIONS TAX APPLICATION (ATAX)  
Jeff Evans said the only changes TDAC had made to the application were on Item #11, which 
addresses profit being reimbursed from the grant. TDAC voted to ask council to remove that 
provision. There was a discussion about why TDAC asked for that. Mr. Evans explained and 
Councilman Sutton said he would like to see the provision retained “for some organizations,” 
such as when the money is used for a guidebook which also has ad sales bringing in money.  
 
Councilman O’Kelley asked if the organizations have to provide for their accounting, and he was 
told yes. He thought that would be a good standard from which to determine whether the not-
for-profit made a profit. There was a discussion as to what TDAC was able to see of an 
organization’s records, and Kathy Todd said the groups need to disclose what their financials 
are in regard to what they are applying for, but not for their entire organization. Councilman 
Sutton said he agreed with the profitability aspect of leaving the provision out, and Mr. Evans 
suggested that they can change “will” to “may.” Councilman Sutton said they could address the 



City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 2 
 

matter in the future. Councilman McFee said he would like to change the wording to “may” and 
let the committee decide if it’s necessary.  
 
KT said if the wording is changed to “may,” they could add “pending the review of the 
reimbursement request” or “pending an audit.”   
 
Mayor Keyserling said when staff reconciled this application with the state sample, they added 
the reimbursement request, and he asked if TDAC was going to keep that provision. Mr. Evans 
said yes. He went on to say that he feels that 2012 money should be rolled over into 2013, and 
that would allow the organizations to get familiar with this new application.  
 
Mr. Dadson said council can decide to take official action to defer money, so there’s no decision 
until council decides to take the action in the new year. Councilman Sutton said they’re asking 
at what meeting the reconvening of the committee will take place. Mayor Keyserling said to 
make a decision about postponing money or rolling it into 2013, it has to be on the council 
agenda. Mr. Evans said TDAC will have to set dates if they don’t roll over the money into 2013. 
Councilman Sutton said he feels there may be organizations that have already spent money, 
believing they are going to be awarded through TDAC. Mr. Evans said that’s not TDAC’s decision 
to make.  
 
LaNelle Fabian said that though the fiscal year ends in June, they “aren’t ready to run” before 
July – October. Main Street Beaufort would prefer to go ahead and start this year’s 
Accommodations Tax funding because they “have been doing their job by promoting the 
downtown area and running ads.” Mr. Evans said if they decide to hold the money, they will 
have changed the process, and going out of the gate, they will have twice as much money to 
jump start the new process. Larry Holman said his organization can wait. Mayor Keyserling 
asked the Chamber of Commerce and Robb Wells said he “would love not to wait.” Their 
stance, he said, “is that it (the money) should be in the marketplace.” 
 
Mayor Keyserling asked if they could have another summit in January, and Mr. Evans said yes. 
Those who have applied in the past and those who attended the last summit will be invited, 
with the Chamber of Commerce making a presentation as the DMO; applications would be 
solicited. Mr. Evans said if they did that, the exercise would be finished and awards made by 
March. Councilman Sutton said he thinks that’s the way to go. The DMO will set the stage and 
share the invitation to the larger community, and then the organizations will “paint the menu 
for what they get when they get there.” Mayor Keyserling said he would be inclined to use this 
as a test year. Councilman O’Kelley and Councilman McFee agreed. Mr. Evans said he could put 
that together by January 8, the next council meeting. 
 
Councilman Sutton said he’s okay with the rest of the recommendations on the 
Accommodations Tax application.  
 
DISCUSSION: BEAUFORT REGIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE - MARKETING OVERVIEW  



City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 3 
 

Charlie Williams, Chair of the Tourism Advisory Committee, said they promise: transparency 
with the use of their funds, which are separated 85% (DMO related expenses) - 15% 
(operational expenses); research with measurable results; the DMO will collaborate with 
everyone marketing Beaufort.  
 
Mr. Wells made a presentation beginning with how the DMO is funded. City DMO funding is 
10%, and the Accommodations Tax grant is 9%. County Accommodations Tax is 6% and Other 
ATAX funding for the county DMO allotment is 18% of their budget. Tourism sales amount to 
25%. 
 
How the money is spent: the Chamber of Commerce’s visitors’ center costs $65,000 and 
advertising is $270,000; research, collateral, etc. is $205,500. Mr. Wells went on to describe 
“Where we’ve been,” concluding that Beaufort is “loved by loyal visitors.” The Chamber of 
Commerce is confident in their ability to build consensus, Mr. Wells said. They are “devoted to 
transparency, research and measurability as growth mechanisms.” The research “will allow 
them to channel new markets.” Where they want to go is to act as a catalyst for business and 
tourism growth for the private sector; making a measurable impact on travel's economic 
impact; cement sustainable stakeholder relations; to be known as an established, memorable 
brand.  
 
How the Chamber of Commerce will get there is through research to ensure that guests believe 
what the Chamber believes; they need to cross promote with three marketing channels to 
produce a total marketing plan. He reviewed visitor demand analyses to show where the most 
people are asking for information and are “converted.” Strong markets are Greenville, 
Columbia, Charlotte and Augusta. They need to work on getting Atlanta and Charleston through 
product enhancement. There is an idea of “enhancing with a camera on the waterfront.” 
Knoxville is an emerging market, as is Cincinnati and New York – New Jersey. 
 
Mr. Wells said the Chamber of Commerce will “redefine marketing” through strategic channel 
applications and integration to equal total engagement and other methods like being fluid as 
trends develop and building a powerful reporting matrix. They need to funnel conversions from 
a lead to a full conversion. “Brand tribes” speak about their experience in Beaufort taking that 
back to their local homes.  
 
The “game plan” includes clear objectives such as increasing leisure travel, embracing “all 
things digital,” and being specific by season, interest, profile, and point of origin segmentation. 
They are expanding into being proactive in their media relations by targeting travel writers and 
editorial calendars. It needs to be targeted beyond paid placements. Mr. Wells went on to 
describe the Chamber of Commerce’s “clear objectives.” He described the channel saturation in 
terms of earned, paid, and owned. The PR strategies are in the “earned strategies” category. 
They want to identify and create newsworthy events and celebrations, for example.  
 



City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 4 
 

He described some of the PR tactics that have been implemented so far in editorial calendars. 
He detailed some of the reports that had been submitted for not-for-profit events and the 
value of the publicity gotten for that beyond paid placements. He showed some of the 
publications that they have chosen for ads, not only because of their demographics but because 
of the leads these ads will generate. He went on to show online paid placements. He said it 
takes 10 touch points online on average for someone to make a travel decision.  
 
Mr. Wells showed a series of ads that the Chamber of Commerce is putting out in regard to 
“enrichment.” He showed the “owned channel strategies”: they use social media to target and 
e-mail address, for example. He showed examples of Facebook pages and the messages they 
convey. Visit Beaufort, SC is the official Facebook page. The broad objectives of the owned 
channel strategies are to enhance the web site; the new site will go live in January. He showed 
a first look at the web site. There will be a mobile version of this site as well because 44% of 
people plan to use their mobile devices as a travel resource. Mr. Williams said people in town 
will use their device and extend their stay if they are offered packages and add-ons for that. 
They have an e-newsletter which reaches 13-14,000. The click-through stats largely went to the 
dining page, while 15% went to the relocation section, and 23% went to a direct link to Main 
Street Beaufort’s Night on the Town.  
 
Mayor Keyserling asked, in January, when the people coming to apply for TDAC funds come to 
the summit, he how they should frame the message. He feels the four categories TDAC came up 
with should be really clear. Mr. Wells said they want to use those categories for expansion of 
the marketing profile. He said, taking Trip Advisor, “people can put it in their market platform.” 
The TDAC grant process will open up new opportunities for the Chamber of Commerce. Mayor 
Keyserling said at the presentation, 50-100 people will come, see the application, and notice 
that collaboration is one instrument by which the committee will do judging for grants, but 
Mayor Keyserling said what the framework is is “not jumping out at him.” Councilman Sutton 
said the presentation didn’t make clear what is going to be done. The language was “marketing-
speak” and difficult for lay people to understand. 
 
Beaufort is only a small piece of the marketing dollars as the DMO, Councilman Sutton said. He 
feels that they need to “get the DMO’s visuals meshed tighter” to make a festival understand 
how they can partner with the DMO in marketing. He said it needs to be clearer to the 
organizations. Mr. Wells said the meshing could be “a style sheet assist” and utilizing 
complementary fonts.  
 
Councilman Sutton asked Mr. Wells to explain how a group can participate as a partner with the 
DMO and have that criteria of collaboration to get an award. He referred to the Main Street 
Beaufort branding meeting. Councilman Sutton feels that the community needs to embrace the 
idea that the $65,000 the DMO gets is valuable to the community. He thought there was focus 
and clarity on marketing the town at the Main Street Beaufort branding session. He asked how 
to tell the rest of the county what the Beaufort brand is.  
 



City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 5 
 

Mr. Williams said the Chamber of Commerce can offer co-op advertising in order to get better 
rates. They can manage the buy and the follow-up, he said. Councilman Sutton said if Historic 
Beaufort Foundation is marketing a history event, they need to be able to know that the 
Chamber of Commerce is also marketing history. Mayor Keyserling said the organizations need 
to know how the DMO is fitting into the categories they are asked to fit into. Councilman Sutton 
said the council “wants some focus.” What’s done locally needs to be clear, he said. He wants 
to know what festivals the DMO is marketing with its DMO dollars.  
 
Mr. Williams said the applicants for the TDAC money can come and sit with Mr. Wells and find 
out how they can do a co-op buy in their category. Mr. Williams said they don’t want to just 
market Beaufort because “people will go to Hunting Island or Harbor Island with an add-on.” 
They are planning a strategy of collaboration. What a group wants to do has to fit in with the 
Chamber of Commerce’s “Enrich” concept. Mr. Williams said their professional staff can help 
the smaller organizations with research, co-op advertising, and “the template.” They have ads 
and an outline, and the organizations need to fill in with the copy. 
 
Mr. Evans asked if they would use materials that came out of the Main Street Beaufort 
branding summit. Mr. Williams said they might, but their ’09 branding is working, he said. Mr. 
Evans said the material he saw was “as sophisticated of materials as has been seen in this 
town.” Mr. Wells said they “will use the materials and the creative will mature.” There was an 
economic development, he said, and they “want to be at the table when the maturation takes 
place.” Mr. Williams said they “will buy into marketing that works for us.” He said they are 
spending a lot of money to track visitors. That data will be shared with those groups that apply 
for TDAC funding.  
 
Ms. Fabian asked if they are applying through the DMO for Accommodations Tax money, and 
she was told no. She asked if they could only partner with the DMO, and she was told no. She 
said she had been told about some remnant space and had partnered with the DMO in the 
past, and she wants to partner with other organizations as well. Mayor Keyserling said the 
Chamber of Commerce “will try to sell you into the collaboration,” but the TDAC committee will 
decide who gets funding.  
 
Maxine Lutz said they would like advertising money for the Carew Rice exhibit, but she doesn’t 
know what group to collaborate with. Mayor Keyserling suggested that the Chamber of 
Commerce will give them entrée to the Charleston and Savannah markets. Ms. Lutz said she 
understands how to work with Mr. Wells, but she wants to know if she should find another 
collaborator.  
 
Ms. Lutz said she wanted to know if the Chamber of Commerce would get money from the 
people they collaborated with. Mayor Keyserling said “it’s the PR side, so they won’t charge.” 
Ms. Lutz asked, if she has to get another group to go to TDAC, how would they split the money 
they get? There was a discussion about how collaboration could work. Mayor Keyserling said 
everyone would sit down at the summit, and one group would ride with another group, and 



City Council Special Meeting and Work Session minutes 
December 18, 2012 

Page 6 
 

then Historic Beaufort Foundation could ride with them on another event. Councilman Sutton 
said they want to have the not-for-profits partner with hotels and restaurants and not just 
other not-for-profits. Councilman McFee explained that this will bring in other entities. Mayor 
Keyserling said they are also trying to bring in other organizations through the summits.  
 
Councilman Sutton explained how a group like Main Street Beaufort could partner with the 
Chamber of Commerce to make their advertising dollars go broader. Mayor Keyserling said Mr. 
Williams, Councilman Sutton, Mr. Wells, Ms. Fabian, Mr. Evans, Ms. Lutz, and Mr. Holman 
should convene before the summit to determine what will specifically be presented at the 
summit.  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilman Sutton made a motion, second by Councilman McFee, to go into an Executive 
Session, pursuant to Title 30, Chapter 4, and Section 70 (a) (2) of the South Carolina Code of 
Law for discussion of industrial prospects. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Councilman O’Kelley made a motion, second by Councilwoman Beer to adjourn the Executive 
Session and return to the council work session. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
There being no further business, Councilwoman Beer made a motion, seconded by 
Councilman McFee, to adjourn the meeting. The motion passed unanimously, and the 
meeting adjourned at 8:47 p.m. 
 
ATTEST:  ________________________________________ 
  IVETTE BURGESS, CITY CLERK 
 
 


